



OPINIONS
OF
THE SUPREME COURT
AND
COURT OF APPEALS
OF
SOUTH CAROLINA

ADVANCE SHEET NO. 6
February 8, 2023
Patricia A. Howard, Clerk
Columbia, South Carolina
www.sccourts.org

CONTENTS

THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH CAROLINA

PUBLISHED OPINIONS AND ORDERS

28133 – Glenn Odom v. McBee Municipal Election Commission	13
28134 – Brad Walbeck v. The I’On Company	23
Order – In the Matter of Harry B. Gregory	44

UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS

None

PETITIONS - UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT

None

EXTENSION TO FILE PETITION - UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT

28114 – Patricia Damico v. Lennar Carolinas	Granted until 2/22/2023
28120 – State v. Angela D. Brewer	Granted until 3/11/2023

PETITIONS FOR REHEARING

28095 – The Protestant Episcopal Church v. The Episcopal Church	Pending
28121 – State Farm v. Myra Windham	Pending
28126 – Barry Clarke v. Fine Housing Inc.	Pending
28127 – Planned Parenthood South Atlantics, et al. v. State of South Carolina, et al.	Pending
28129 – ArrowPointe Federal Credit Union v. Jimmy Eugene Bailey	Pending

28130 – Stephany A. Connelly v. The Main Street America Group

Pending

28132 – Freddie Owens, et al. v. Bryan P. Stirling, et al.

Pending

THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

PUBLISHED OPINIONS

5968 – The State v. Brandon J. Clark 45

UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS

2023-UP-047 – SCDSS v. Christy Knight
(Filed February 2, 2023)

2023-UP-048 – SCDSS v. Scott Duncan
(Filed February 2, 2023)

2023-UP-049 – State v. John I. Duncan, III

2023-UP-050 – State v. Chesnee L. Mattress

2023-UP-051 – State v. Jason E. Stoots

2023-UP-052 – Trudy B. Mattox v. Benjamin J. Russell and Chere

Mitchell 2023-UP-053 – Larry Bright v. Heather Davis

2023-UP-054 – SCDSS v. Cherry and James Couillard

2023-UP-055 – M. Baron Stanton v. Town of Pawleys Island

2023-UP-056 – Joe Hand Promotions v. Christopher M. Ruegsegger

PETITIONS FOR REHEARING

5916 – Amanda Huskins v. Mungo Homes, LLC Pending

5946 – State v. Frankie L. Davis, III Pending

5947 – Richard W. Meier v. Mary J. Burnsed Pending

5948 – Frankie Padgett v. Cast and Crew Entertainment	Pending
5949 – Phillipa Smalling v. Lisa R. Maselli	Pending
5954 – State v. Rashawn Carter	Pending
5955 – State v. Philip Guderyon	Pending
5956 – Trident Medical v. SCDHEC (Medical University)	Pending
5957 – SCDSS v. Brian Frank	Pending
5960 – State v. Kenneth Lamont Robinson, Jr.	Pending
2022-UP-402 – Todd Olds v. Berkeley County	Pending
2022-UP-422 – Paula Russell v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.	Pending
2022-UP-429 – Bobby E. Leopard v. Perry W. Barbour	Pending
2022-UP-436 – Cynthia Holmes v. James Holmes	Pending
2022-UP-437 – Nicholas Thompson v. Bluffton Township Fire District	Pending
2022-UP-455 – In the Matter of the Estate of Herbert Franklin Dickson, Jr.	Pending
2022-UP-462 – Karrie Gurwood and Howard Gurwood v. GCA Services, Inc.	Pending
2023-UP-005 – David Abdo v. City of Charleston	Pending
2023-UP-011 – Therese Hood v. USAA	Pending
2023-UP-020 – Bridgett Fowler v. FedEx	Pending
2023-UP-021 – Fonda E. Patrick v. Gasnel E. Bryan, M.D.	Pending

PETITIONS – SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH CAROLINA

5826 – Charleston Development v. Younesse Alami	Pending
5832 – State v. Adam Rowell	Pending
5834 – Vanessa Williams v. Bradford Jeffcoat	Pending
5839 – In the Matter of Thomas Griffin	Pending
5843 – Quincy Allen #6019 v. SCDC	Pending
5846 – State v. Demontay M. Payne	Pending
5849 – SC Property and Casualty Guaranty Fund v. Second Injury Fund	Pending
5855 – SC Department of Consumer Affairs v. Cash Central	Pending
5856 – Town of Sullivan's Island v. Michael Murray	Pending
5860 – Kelaher, Connell & Conner, PC v. SCWCC	Pending
5882 – Donald Stanley v. Southern State Police	Pending
5892 – State v. Thomas Acker	Pending
5900 – Donald Simmons v. Benson Hyundai, LLC	Pending
5903 – State v. Phillip W. Lowery	Pending
5907 – State v. Sherwin A. Green	Pending
5906 – Isaac D. Brailey v. Michelin N.A.	Pending
5912 – State v. Lance Antonio Brewton	Pending
5914 – State v. Tammy D. Brown	Pending

5915 – State v. Sylvester Ferguson, III	Pending
5921 – Cynthia Wright v. SCDOT	Pending
5922 – State v. Olandio R. Workman	Pending
5923 – Susan Ball Dover v. Nell Ball	Pending
5925 – Patricia Pate v. College of Charleston	Pending
5926 – Theodore Wills v. State	Pending
5930 – State v. Kyle M. Robinson	Pending
5931 – Stephen R. Edwards v. Scapa Waycross, Inc.	Pending
5932 – Basilides Cruz v. City of Columbia	Pending
5933 – State v. Michael Cliff Eubanks	Pending
5934 – Nicole Lampo v. Amedisys Holding, LLC	Pending
5935 – The Gulfstream Café v. Palmetto Industrial	Pending
5942 – State v. Joseph L. Brown, Jr.	Pending
5943 – State v. Nicholas B. Chhith-Berry	Pending
5950 – State v. Devin J. Johnson	Pending
2021-UP-242 – G. Allen Rutter v. City of Columbia	Pending
2021-UP-252 – Betty Jean Perkins v. SCDOT	Pending
2022-UP-274 – SCDSS v. Dominique G. Burns	Pending
2021-UP-277 – State v. Dana L. Morton	Pending

2021-UP-280 – Carpenter Braselton, LLC v. Ashley Roberts	Pending
2021-UP-281 – In the Matter of the Estate of Harriet Kathleen Henry Tims	Pending
2021-UP-288 – Gabriel Barnhill v. J. Floyd Swilley	Pending
2022-UP-051 – Ronald I. Paul v. SCDOT (2)	Pending
2022-UP-081 – Gena Davis v. SCDC	Pending
2022-UP-085 – Richard Ciampanella v. City of Myrtle Beach	Pending
2022-UP-089 – Elizabeth Lofton v. Berkeley Electric Coop. Inc.	Pending
2022-UP-095 – Samuel Paulino v. Diversified Coatings, Inc.	Pending
2022-UP-113 – Jennifer McFarland v. Thomas Morris	Pending
2022-UP-114 – State v. Mutekis J. Williams	Pending
2022-UP-118 – State v. Donald R. Richburg	Pending
2022-UP-119 – Merilee Landano v. Norman Landano	Pending
2022-UP-161 – Denis Yeo v. Lexington Cty. Assessor	Pending
2022-UP-163 – Debi Brookshire v. Community First Bank	Pending
2022-UP-169 – Richard Ladson v. THI of South Carolina at Charleston	Pending
2022-UP-170 – Tony Young v. Greenwood Cty. Sheriff's Office	Pending
2022-UP-175 – Brown Contractors, LLC v. Andrew McMarlin	Pending
2022-UP-183 – Raymond A. Wedlake v. Scott Bashor	Pending
2022-UP-184 – Raymond Wedlake v. Woodington Homeowners Assoc.	Pending

2022-UP-186 – William B. Justice v. State	Pending
2022-UP-189 – State v. Jordan M. Hodge	Pending
2022-UP-192 – Nivens v. JB&E Heating & Cooling, Inc.	Pending
2022-UP-197 – State v. Kenneth W. Carlisle	Pending
2022-UP-203 – Estate of Patricia Royston v. Hunt Valley Holdings	Pending
2022-UP-205 – Katkams Ventures, LLC v. No Limit, LLC	Pending
2022-UP-207 – Floyd Hargrove v. Anthony Griffis, Sr.	Pending
2022-UP-209 – The State v. Dustin L. Hooper	Pending
2022-UP-213 – Dr. Gregory May v. Advanced Cardiology	Pending
2022-UP-214 – Alison Meyers v. Shiram Hospitality, LLC	Pending
2022-UP-228 – State v. Rickey D. Tate	Pending
2022-UP-229 – Adele Pope v. Estate of James Brown (3)	Pending
2022-UP-236 – David J. Mattox v. Lisa Jo Bare Mattox	Pending
2022-UP-239 – State v. James D. Busby	Pending
2022-UP-243 – In the Matter of Almeter B. Robinson (2)	Pending
2022-UP-245 – State v. John Steen d/b/a John Steen Bail Bonding	Pending
2022-UP-251 – Lady Beaufort, LLC v. Hird Island Investments	Pending
2022-UP-252 – Lady Beaufort, LLC v. Hird Island Investments (2)	Pending
2022-UP-253 – Mathes Auto Sales v. Dixon Automotive	Pending
2022-UP-255 – Frances K. Chestnut v. Florence Keese	Pending

2022-UP-256 – Sterling Hills v. Elliot Hayes	Pending
2022-UP-269 – Steven M. Bernard v. 3 Chisolm Street	Pending
2022-UP-270 – Latarsha Docena-Guerrero v. Government Employees Insurance	Pending
2022-UP-274 – SCDSS v. Dominique G. Burns	Pending
2022-UP-276 – Isiah James, #096883 v. SCDC (2)	Pending
2022-UP-282 – Roger Herrington, II v. Roger Dale Herrington	Pending
2022-UP-293 – State v. Malette D. Kimbrough	Pending
2022-UP-294 – Bernard Bagley #175851 v. SCDPPPS (2)	Pending
2022-UP-296 – SCDOR v. Study Hall, LLC	Pending
2022-UP-298 – State v. Gregory Sanders	Pending
2022-UP-303 – Daisy Frederick v. Daniel McDowell	Pending
2022-UP-340 – State v. Amy N. Taylor	Pending
2022-UP-305 – Terri L. Johnson v. State Farm	Pending
2022-UP-307 – Frieda H. Dortch v. City of Columbia	Pending
2022-UP-308 – Ditech Financial, LLC v. Kevin Snyder	Pending
2022-UP-309 – State v. Derrick T. Mills	Pending
2022-UP-312 – Guardian ad Litem, James Seeger v. Richland School Dt.	Pending
2022-UP-313 – Vermell Daniels v. THI of SC	Pending
2022-UP-314 – Ronald L. Jones v. Rogers Townsend & Thomas, P.C.	Pending

2022-UP-316 – Barry Adickes v. Phillips Healthcare (2)	Pending
2022-UP-319 – State v. Tyler J. Evans	Pending
2022-UP-320 – State v. Christopher Huggins	Pending
2022-UP-321 – Stephen Franklin II v. Kelly Franklin	Pending
2022-UP-323 – Justin R. Cone v. State	Pending
2022-UP-326 – Wells Fargo Bank v. Michelle Hodges	Pending
2022-UP-331 – Ex parte: Donald Smith (In re: Battersby v. Kirkman)	Pending
2022-UP-333 – Ex Parte: Beullah and James Belin	Pending
2022-UP-334 – Anthony Whitfield v. David Swanson	Pending
2022-UP-336 – In the Matter of Ronald MJ Gregg	Pending
2022-UP-337 – U.S. Bank, N.A. v. Rhonda Lewis Meisner (3)	Pending
2022-UP-338 – State v. Derrick J. Miles	Pending
2022-UP-346 – Russell Bauknight v. Adele Pope (3)	Pending
2022-UP-354 – Chicora Life Center v. Fetter Health Care Network	Pending
2022-UP-360 – Nationstar Mortgage LLC v. Barbara A. Gibbs	Pending
2022-UP-362 – Jonathan Duncan v. State	Pending
2022-UP-380 – Adonis Williams v. State	Pending
2022-UP-382 – Mark Giles Pafford v. Robert Wayne Duncan, Jr.	Pending
2022-UP-410 – Alvetta L. Massenberg v. Clarendon County Treasurer	Pending

2022-UP-413 – Lucas Marchant v. John Doe

Pending

2022-UP-435 – Andrew Desilet v. S.C. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles

Pending

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court**

Glenn Odom, Respondent,

v.

McBee Municipal Election Commission, Charles Short,
Charles Sutton, and Hewitt Dixon, Appellants.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000165

Appeal from Chesterfield County
Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 28133
Heard May 17, 2022 – Filed February 8, 2023

AFFIRMED

Robert E. Tyson Jr. and Vordman Carlisle Traywick III,
of Robinson Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC, of Columbia;
Wallace H. Jordan Jr., of Wallace H. Jordan, Jr., P.C., of
Florence; and Karl Smith Bowers Jr., Bowers Law Office,
of Columbia, all for Appellants Charles Short, Charles
Sutton, and Hewitt Dixon.

Richard Edward McLawhorn Jr., of Sweeny Wingate &
Barrow, PA, of Columbia; Martin S. Driggers Jr., of
Driggers Law Firm, of Hartsville, both for Appellant
McBee Municipal Election Commission.

John E. Parker and John Elliott Parker Jr., of Parker Law Group, LLP, of Hampton for Respondent.

JUSTICE FEW: The Town of McBee¹ Municipal Election Commission overturned the results of the town's September 2020 mayoral and town council elections after finding Sydney Baker violated a previous version of section 7-15-330 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2021)² by requesting applications to vote by absentee ballot on behalf of other voters. The circuit court found there was no evidence to support the election commission's decision and reversed. We affirm the circuit court.

I. Facts and Procedural History

Glenn Odom defeated Charles Short in the 2020 mayoral race by ten votes. James Linton and Robert Liles defeated Hewitt Dixon and Charles Sutton in the town council race by similar margins. The losing candidates from each race challenged the election results based on the allegation Sydney Baker violated section 7-15-330.

After the election, at a hearing before the election commission, Baker testified she "volunteered to help citizens" and used unpaid time off from work to "assist the citizens in voting" if they wanted to vote. Baker testified her actions included calling and going "door-to-door" to ask people if they "would like to vote absentee if they were working or if they were over [sixty-five]." If someone said yes, Baker explained, she "helped them obtain an absentee ballot." She testified she "assist[ed] them in the application process." When specifically asked about what she did, Baker

¹ McBee is a small town in Chesterfield County in the Pee Dee region of eastern South Carolina. The town's residents, many descendants of its patriarch Colonel "Bunch" McBee, and other students of correct pronunciation of local names will appreciate the readers of this opinion observing that the correct pronunciation of the word McBee is "MAK-bi." See Claude Neuffer & Irene Neuffer, *Correct Mispronunciations of Some South Carolina Names* 113 (Univ. of S.C. Press 1983) (including a short statement of the history of the town and noting, "The unknowing often say mak-BEE . . .").

² The General Assembly substantially rewrote section 7-15-330 in 2022. See Act No. 150, 2022 S.C. Acts 1587, 1596-98; S.C. Code Ann. § 7-15-330 (Supp. 2022).

testified "I had an iPad . . . and a printer in my truck. If they wish[ed] to [obtain the application], we did so right then. And if not, I moved on." The election commission also heard testimony from voters whom Baker assisted, which we discuss below.

The election commission reversed the results of the election. It found Baker violated section 7-15-330 by requesting absentee ballots for other voters, relying on its determination Baker was not credible when she denied doing anything that violated the statute.

The circuit court reversed the election commission. The circuit court found there was no evidence Baker did "anything improper in assisting voters." The election commission and the losing candidates appealed directly to this Court pursuant to subsection 14-8-200(b)(5) of the South Carolina Code (2017) and Rule 203(d)(1)(A)(iv) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.

II. Analysis

We begin with the text of the only provision of law applicable to this case: the version of section 7-15-330 in effect for the 2020 election.³ The section provided that "a qualified elector," a "member of his immediate family," or "the . . . elector's authorized representative" may "request an application to vote by absentee ballot." Because Baker does not fit into one of those categories as to any of the voters at issue in this case, the section did not permit her to actually make the request for an absentee ballot application on behalf of any of them. However, there is nothing in section 7-15-330 that prohibits anyone—including Baker—from "assisting" a voter in requesting an application for an absentee ballot.

³ The losing candidates argue Baker also violated subsections 7-13-770(A) and 7-15-380(A) of the South Carolina Code (2019) and those violations are a basis for overturning the election. While violations of subsections 7-13-770(A) and 7-15-380(A) were arguably raised to the election commission and circuit court, it is clear neither ruled on either issue. Accordingly, these issues are not preserved for our review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). The losing candidates argued additional grounds other than Baker's conduct for overturning the election. The election commission rejected those arguments, however, and overturned the election only on the basis of Baker violating section 7-15-330.

The applicable law, therefore, is straightforward. The former version of section 7-15-330 did not allow Baker to "request applications for absentee voting," but did not prohibit her from assisting someone else in requesting an application. The question before the election commission was whether Baker made the "request" for an application to vote absentee on behalf of any voter.⁴ If she did, she violated section 7-15-330. On the other hand, if she merely assisted a voter in requesting an application, she did not violate the section.

The commission made the factual finding that Baker requested an application to vote by absentee ballot on behalf of "at least" ten voters.⁵ The sole question before this Court is whether there is any evidence to support the election commission's finding. *Odom v. Town of McBee Election Comm'n*, 427 S.C. 305, 307, 831 S.E.2d 429, 430 (2019). If there is any evidence that supports the commission's finding, we must uphold the finding. *Id.*

Baker's testimony before the election commission was, "I volunteered to help citizens," "I helped [those who wanted to] obtain an absentee ballot," and "I help them obtain a ballot." She denied she ever requested any ballot application herself. In addition to Baker's testimony, the election commission heard from voters whom she assisted. Elizabeth Murphy, for example, testified Baker helped her with the absentee process because Murphy did not use the internet. She stated "two young people came to my house to assist with the registration and voting." Murphy did not testify Baker made the actual request for the application to vote absentee. Rayshawn Bracey testified he went to Baker's place of employment "to vote" so his "ballot could be sent to [his] address," but he did not mention Baker and he did not testify

⁴ The election commission addressed other issues not important to this appeal, such as whether Baker was paid for her volunteer work and whether she worked for Odom at the time of the election. While there was disputed evidence on both questions, it does not matter whether she was a paid volunteer or worked for Odom. In either circumstance, she was not permitted to request absentee ballot applications for others. The sole question is whether she did that or merely assisted voters in requesting them.

⁵ The commission wrote in its order, "Baker applied for at least 10 and up to 28 absentee ballots."

that anyone requested an application for him. Michael Williams testified he voted and requested his own ballot. He did not mention Baker. June Wright—who cannot read—testified he received an absentee ballot after he "sent for help."⁶ Wright testified, "I asked them to help me . . . because I can't read," and "Sydney, she helped me out." When asked specifically on cross-examination, "You didn't request it, she did?," Wright answered—again—"No. She helped me, I asked her to help me to, you know, vote."

Each witness who appeared before the commission—including Baker—testified only that Baker assisted another person in requesting an application to vote by absentee ballot. No witness presented any evidence Baker violated the statute by making the request herself. Baker was asked numerous questions as to whether she requested an application for other people, as opposed to simply assisting those people in requesting ballots on their own. Each time, Baker gave an answer that was the equivalent of "no." Thus, neither Baker nor any other witness provided the commission with any evidence that Baker violated the statute. The commission decided, however, it did not believe Baker's testimony. On the basis of no witness providing any evidence of a violation and the election commission finding Baker's denial of a violation not credible, the election commission found a violation. It does not work that way. Baker's testimony that no violation occurred does not become evidence that a violation did occur simply because the factfinder finds the testimony not credible.

The dissent makes several points that warrant a response. First, it labels as "artificial dichotomy" the distinction between actually making a request for an absentee ballot for another person and assisting a person in making their own request. In recognizing this distinction, however, we have simply interpreted the applicable statute. In other words, we did not create the distinction; it is in the statute. Second, as the dissent notes, June Wright and Elizabeth Murphy—who also testified on behalf of her husband, Melvin Murphy—each testified only that Baker "assisted" them in requesting a ballot. Rayshawn Bracey said nothing about Baker in his

⁶ Wright discussed an affidavit stating he received an unsolicited absentee ballot. Wright testified he might have signed an affidavit, but was unsure. Wright also testified he told a private investigator he received an unsolicited absentee ballot. In his testimony before the election commission, however, he was clear that Baker assisted him with the process of requesting an application.

testimony. Third, the dissent makes fun of our comment, "It does not work that way." It is a serious comment. The losing candidates bore the factual burden of proving Baker violated the statute. No witness testified Baker violated the statute and Baker herself denied violating the statute. No factfinder may take the denial of a fact, find the denial not credible, and treat its credibility finding as evidence of the fact. Finally, the dissent attributes to us "a rather selective view of the facts." However, the dissent has not recited a single piece of evidence that would support a finding Baker requested an application for another voter. Under that circumstance, our standard of review requires we reverse.

III. Conclusion

Because there is no evidence to support the election commission's finding that Baker violated the statute, the circuit court was correct to reverse and reinstate the results of the election.

AFFIRMED.

BEATTY, C.J., and JAMES, J., concur. HEARN, J., dissenting in a separate opinion in which KITTREDGE, J., concurs.

JUSTICE HEARN: Because I believe election commissions are better equipped to determine an election's validity than this Court, and that evidence supports the factual findings here, I dissent. The McBee Municipal Election Commission ("Commission") invalidated the town's 2020 election after hearing from witnesses and determining their credibility. That decision was not made in a vacuum; rather, it was reached after a lengthy hearing which resulted in credibility determinations, together with substantial knowledge of Baker's relationship with Odom⁷ as well as the recent tortured history of municipal elections in McBee. Sitting in its appellate capacity, the circuit court determined there was "no evidence" to support the decision of the Commission and reversed. Under a rather selective view of the facts, the majority affirms the circuit court. I would honor our standard of review and reinstate the decision of the Commission.

An appellate court's review of decisions of a municipal election commission is very limited. "In municipal election cases, we review the judgment of the circuit court only to correct errors of law." *Taylor v. Town of Atlantic Beach Election Comm'n*, 363 S.C. 8, 12, 609 S.E.2d 500, 502 (2005). Likewise, a circuit court will not invalidate an election commission because, when "sitting in appellate capacity . . . it must accept the factual findings of the commission unless they are wholly unsupported by the evidence." *Id.* at 14, 609 S.E.2d at 503. Further, in all trials, the trier of fact possesses the fundamental authority to determine a witness is not credible when there is reason for disbelief. *See Crane v. Raber's Discount Tire Rack*, 429 S.C. 636, 639, 842 S.E.2d 349, 350 (2020) ("Our courts have frequently held that when the [workers compensation] commission makes a credibility determination based on substantial evidence, the credibility finding itself is substantial

⁷ From the record, Baker's precise relationship with Odom is somewhat unclear. While Odom claimed he was no longer affiliated with Alligator Water Co., and therefore not Baker's co-coworker, the Commission disagreed with this assertion after being presented with evidence that his name still appeared on the company website on election day.

evidence, and factual findings properly based on the credibility finding are binding on the [appellate] courts").

Today, the majority disregards our limited standard of review and holds there is no evidence that Sydney Baker committed illegal activity. To bolster this decision, the majority creates a distinction between mere "assistance" in the ballot requesting process and the actual requesting of a ballot, one being permissible and the other being impermissible.⁸ And in applying this artificial dichotomy to the facts here, the majority, contrary to the Commission, completely accepts Baker's version of her conduct. Finding that she only assisted voters in requesting absentee ballots—not that she actually requested them on their behalf—the majority finds no violation of our voting law. I do not agree with supplanting the factual findings made by the Commission as to Baker's credibility, and I would hold that Baker's actions in traveling about the town in her van—armed with a computer and printer—requesting absentee ballots for voters, required her to comply with section 7-15-330's registry requirements.

The majority's version of the facts discounts the multiple witnesses who, by their own admission, were incapable of requesting their own ballots. For example, Rashawn Bracey testified he did not know how to go about requesting a ballot on his own and therefore went to Alligator Water Co.—Baker's place of employment—as he had in a previous election. Another witness, June Wright, stated that he was illiterate and therefore incapable of requesting his own ballot until Baker assisted him in doing so. Additionally, there was Elizabeth Murphy who testified that she voted absentee for herself and her husband after Baker came to her door and helped her request an absentee ballot. Her husband, Melvin Murphy, had suffered a major "massive heart attack stroke" and needed assistance in voting which both Baker and Mrs. Murphy provided him.

⁸ Even the majority concedes that if Baker in fact requested ballots for individuals, that would be illegal conduct as she was not registered with the state and not related to the individuals involved.

While it is certainly true that individuals with conditions inhibiting their ability to vote may receive assistance with the process, section 7-15-330 requires the volunteer to be registered as a qualified elector so that nefarious conduct, such as that alleged here, does not taint the election process. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 7-15-330 (2019). Baker could have become registered simply by complying with the law—by being a registered voter, abstaining from paid campaign activity, and filing the requisite paperwork with the state. Instead, the clear inference from her conduct in this election as well as in past elections, was that she used her professional relationship with Odom and his business to request absentee ballots for voters without complying with the law.

I profoundly disagree with the majority's dismissal of the Commission's findings stemming from its credibility determination of Baker's testimony, particularly its statement that "this is not how it's supposed to work." The credibility of the witnesses, including Sydney Baker, was crucial to the resolution of this case, and was within the peculiar province of the Commission as the fact-finder. I would not second-guess the credibility findings of the Commission, which not only had the opportunity to view the witnesses but possessed a wealth of historical knowledge about Baker's relationship with Odom and her prior participation in municipal elections. The Commission, in an exercise of its discretion, found that Baker's testimony was less believable than other witnesses due to her bias and previous pattern of conduct. This finding was peculiarly within the province of the Commission, and, unlike the majority, I believe that is precisely how it is supposed to work.

The Commission coupled this evidence of violations with Baker's name appearing on up to 28 ballots. Similar to the *Broadhurst* case, scope is assessed not by looking to individual ballots, but by considering whether the election's outcome could be in doubt. *See Broadhurst v. Myrtle Beach Election Comm'n*, 342 S.C. 373, 382, 537 S.E.2d 543, 547 (2000) ("[E]ven though it may have been mathematically unlikely [the losing candidate] would have received 212 of the 231 uncounted votes, the Court has determined the best method to safeguard the purity of election is to add the irregular votes to the losing side." (footnote omitted) (citation omitted))

(internal quotation marks omitted)). The Commission found that any ballot which listed Baker's name was irregular and that the election was decided by insufficient a margin to ignore the impact of this irregularity. I would hold that this determination is supported by the evidence and would reinstate the decision of Commission.

KITTREDGE, J., concurs.

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

Brad J. Walbeck and Lea Ann Adkins, Both Individually
and Derivatively on Behalf of The I'On Assembly, Inc.;
I'On Assembly, Inc., Petitioners-Respondents,

v.

The I'On Company, LLC; The I'On Club, LLC; The I'On
Group, LLC f/k/a Civitas, LLC; and I'On Realty, LLC,
Respondents-Petitioners.

Appellate Case No. 2019-000968

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald,
Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 28134
Heard December 14, 2022 – Filed February 8, 2023

AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED IN PART

Justin O'Toole Lucey, Joshua Fletcher Evans, and Dabny
Lynn, all of Justin O'Toole Lucey, P.A., of Mt. Pleasant,
for Petitioners-Respondents.

Brian Duffy, Julie Lauren Moore, and Patrick Coleman
Wooten, all of Duffy & Young, L.L.C., of Charleston, for
Respondents-Petitioners.

JUSTICE HEARN: This case involves promises made and broken to homeowners by a developer and its affiliated entities. Following a lengthy trial, a jury returned verdicts on several causes of action in favor of the homeowners, and the developer appealed. The court of appeals initially upheld the jury's verdict for \$1.75 million on the homeowners' breach of fiduciary claim and a verdict for \$10,000 on a breach of contract claim by an individual homeowner. Thereafter, upon petitions for rehearing, the court of appeals completely reversed course, dismissing all of the homeowners' claims as a matter of law and reversing and remanding the breach of contract claim by the individual homeowner. We granted certiorari and now affirm in part and reverse in part, thus reinstating the jury's verdicts.

FACTS/PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The facts of this case are complicated, and, in the words of Justice George C. James, are "not for the weary." *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. IMK Dev. Co., LLC*, 435 S.C. 109, 114, 866 S.E.2d 542, 545 (2021). I'On is a high-density residential development that comprises public squares, restaurants, shops, and homes designed to imitate historic urban housing, including a replica of downtown Charleston's Rainbow Row. After this Court rejected a referendum effort to restrict multi-use zoning, construction of I'On Phase II began around 2000. *See I'On, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 409, 526 S.E.2d 716, 717 (2000).

In 2010, Plaintiffs, Brad Walbeck and Lea Ann Adkins (collectively, "Homeowners"), sued the I'On Company, LLC, the I'On Club, LLC, the I'On Group, LLC, Thomas Graham, and Vince Graham, (collectively "Developers") for various causes of action related to the nonconveyance of certain real property and community amenities within the neighborhood. Thomas Graham, Vince Graham, and I'On Realty Company, LLC were dismissed from the case prior to trial, and a mistrial was ordered during the first trial in order to realign the HOA as a plaintiff. In the subsequent trial, the jury returned verdicts in favor of Walbeck and the HOA. The HOA elected its \$1.75 million verdict for breach of fiduciary duty, and Walbeck elected his \$20,000 negligent misrepresentation verdict.

At the heart of Homeowners' claims is the allegation that Developers breached their promise to convey certain real property community amenities, upon their completion, to the HOA. Specifically, Homeowners claim that Developers promised to convey an event facility (the Creek Club), a community dock, a boat ramp, and a

parking lot. With the exception of a portion of the parking lot, all of these amenities are located on Lot CV-6, a civic-use zoned property along Hobcaw Creek.

In 1998, in order to comply with the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act ("ILSA"), Developers filed a Property Report with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development which included the following language:

THE RECREATIONAL FACILITIES LISTED IN THE CHART ABOVE SHALL, UPON COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION, BE CONVEYED TO THE [HOA] BY QUITCLAIM DEED FREE AND CLEAR OF ALL MONETARY LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES AT NO COST TO THE [HOA] OR ITS MEMBERS. UPON CONVEYANCE OF THESE FACILITIES TO THE [HOA], IT SHALL ASSUME FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE COSTS OF OWNERSHIP, OPERATION, AND MAINTENANCE OF THE FACILITIES CONVEYED TO IT.

The chart that preceded this section of the 1998 Property Report¹ included nonspecific references to a "Community Dock" and a "Creekside Park." Lot CV-6 was not listed or specifically referred to by the 1998 Property Report. Thomas Graham, one of two primary developers of I'On along with his son, testified this was because Developers did not own the lot at that time. Additionally, the I'On Company submitted plans, applications, and letters to DHEC representing that the community docks were in lieu of private docks and were "for the use and enjoyment of the I'On community." DHEC, as well as the Army Corps of Engineers, subsequently approved these plans.

When Walbeck purchased his lot in November 1999, he received a copy of the 1998 Property Report and the relevant sections were included in his lot's purchase agreement. Development of I'On continued in the early 2000s, with multiple community docks, parks, and homes. On Lot CV-6, the Creek Club and

¹ The 1998 Property Report also warned prospective buyers that "VARIOUS RECREATIONAL FACILITIES IN THE SUBDIVISION MAY BE OWNED AND OPERATED BY PERSONS OTHER THAN THE [HOA]. THERE IS NO GUARANTEE THAT ANY SUCH FACILITIES WILL BE AVAILABLE FOR USE BY LOT OWNERS." (all caps in original).

adjacent docks were completed in 2001.² Perpendicular to that lot sat Creekside Park (later named "Marshwalk Park" to avoid confusion with a nearby neighborhood). The Community Dock is distinct from the other docks built in the neighborhood during this time due to its size, deep-water access to Hobcaw Creek, and its proximity to the Creek Club.

Shortly after the 1998 Property Report was drafted, Developers began a pattern of conduct altering their initial promise to convey ownership of the disputed properties to the HOA. Beginning in December of 1998, the I'On Company sent a letter to a neighboring development, Olde Park, offering to allow residents of that neighborhood access to the community dock and boat ramp for a fee of \$350,000, which was accepted. In this same letter, the I'On Company stated the community dock and boat ramp would "belong to the [HOA,]" with negligible fees to be charged for dock keys. However, at trial Vince Graham acknowledged that the plan to deed the disputed amenities to the I'On Club rather than to the HOA changed sometime between November 1998 and March 1999.

In February of 2000, the I'On Club, I'On Company, and the HOA executed a "Recreational Easement and Agreement to Share Costs." This easement granted the HOA access to the Creek Club, boat ramp, parking lot, and boat slip on Lot CV-6. Notably, when the *I'On Club* conveyed the easement to the HOA, it lacked title to the servient estate, Lot CV-6, which instead was owned by the *I'On Company*. It was not until August of 2000 that the Club acquired title, despite the fact that the amenities belonged to the HOA according to the 1998 Property Report. Developers nonetheless recorded the easement in I'On's declaration of covenants, conditions and restrictions ("I'On's Covenants"). The easement apportioned certain costs to the HOA for a term of 30 years. The HOA began making these annual payments for usage and upkeep in 2004.³

² Over the years, Developers have equivocated on whether the dock off Lot CV-6 is the "Community Dock" referenced in the 1998 Property Report. Even at trial, Thomas Graham vacillated, initially refusing to concede that the reference to a community dock in the report referred to the main dock at the Creek Club. When Homeowners' counsel reminded him that he had testified to the contrary in his deposition, Graham replied: "I don't remember what I said two years ago." Ultimately, after being impeached with his deposition testimony, Graham admitted that the dock at the Creek Club was intended to be conveyed to the HOA.

³ Around that time, the HOA's board, then chaired by Developers, authorized one board member, Edward Clem, to speak to a real estate attorney about the easement.

In April of 2000, the I'On Company amended the 1998 Property Report, deleting the obligation to convey a "Creekside Park" and "Community Dock" to the HOA. Later in 2000, the I'On Company conveyed two docks and a 2.86-acre tract of land, which would become Marshwalk Park, to the HOA and again amended the property report.

This vacillation continued when, in 2005, Developers entered into a "Handover Agreement" with the HOA, which stated that "the I'On Company will notify the [HOA] Board when common area property and structures are ready to be handed over to the [HOA]." This document further outlined the importance of handing all properties over in good repair and provided assurances to the HOA that the process was prepared to go forward. Nevertheless, in an email discussing the Creek Club Boat Ramp and docks, Chad Besenfelder, Developers' manager, proposed a different plan to the Grahams in November of 2006, stating "[b]oth the HOA and the Club do not want responsibility for this area I think the area should stay in control of the Club so not to interfere with events."

Ultimately, Developers began to negotiate an outright sale of the two lots containing the amenities to a third party rather than convey them to the HOA. In 2007, Developers discussed several proposals concerning the Creek Club and the associated community dock and boat ramp. One of the proposals by Thomas Graham was to sell the HOA another lot for a community center at a cost of \$650,000 rather than to convey the Creek Club to them. This would allow Developers to sell the Creek Club as a personal residence, providing there were not any zoning issues. However, Besenfelder tabled any plan for the time being, writing, "The docks are too controversial and taking away even part of this community amenity would cause trouble."

In 2008, Mike Russo proposed to Developers that his company, 148 Civitas, purchase Lots CV-5 and CV-6. However, Besenfelder emailed Russo in August of 2008 and acknowledged the HOA's right to the property in dispute, stating: "Subject to HOA approval, the I'On Company plans to convey the docks and boat ramp to the HOA, retaining continued easement for both I'On Club and Creek Club events."

Clem had concerns that "it was signed by the same person in three different roles, as the manager of the I'On Club; as the president of the I'On homeowners association; and as the general manager of the I'On Company. Sort of shaking hands with yourself, as I could describe it." The attorney drafted a new agreement, but the HOA Board was not satisfied with the changes and did not adopt it.

Hearing rumors about this possible sale, the HOA scheduled an October 2008 meeting to discuss Russo's attempts to purchase the lots. Following this meeting, Besenfelder emailed the Grahams requesting assurance that an upcoming meeting with the Town of Mount Pleasant would lead to the continued designation of the lots as civic property. Besenfelder proposed that Developers "not separate the docks from the Creek Club at this time." He added that it was clear, based on the current use, that the lots were properly zoned as civic property and something could be worked out with Russo to ensure the HOA's continued use of the lots because Russo "want[ed] this deal to work[.]"

Notwithstanding this attempt to sell the property to Russo, in March of 2009, Besenfelder sent another email to Developers, now confirming that he was working with Thomas Graham to help prepare the "parcel for HOA dock and ramp turnover" by dividing these amenities from the Creek Club, thus contradicting his earlier recommendations. Also in March of 2009, Russo withdrew his offer to purchase the land due to pending litigation with I'On resident Catherine Templeton.⁴

After this initial sale to Russo fell through, Developers' plan for the Creek Club Dock and Boat Ramp changed again. Besenfelder emailed the I'On Club's property manager, copying all Board members, that the I'On Company "is preparing to deed the community dock to the [HOA] and discussed plans to subdivide the property to facilitate the transaction. Even Vince Graham conceded at trial that it was "entirely reasonable for the Assembly and the homeowners to rely on this representation." Yet within hours of the Besenfelder email being sent, secret negotiations resumed between Developers and Russo for the sale of the property.

Russo again made an offer to Developers, which they accepted in June of 2009. A month later, the President of the HOA, Bruce Kinney, called Thomas Graham to discuss a phone call Kinney had received about a pending sale of the amenities, but Graham informed Kinney that the Creek Club was merely undergoing a "management change." This conversation occurred during the same time that

⁴ Though not a party to this litigation, Templeton was a homeowner at the time of Russo's offer and had sought legal action to halt the sale of the disputed lots and amenities. Templeton attended HOA meetings, wrote the HOA board president, and generally alleged that the HOA had ownership of the disputed properties pursuant to the 1998 Property Report. She formed an LLC with other homeowners, communicated with the Board of Zoning Appeals and the Town of Mount Pleasant, but eventually settled with Thomas Graham after he threatened a countersuit.

Kinney was in the midst of negotiations with Developers to correct the recreational easement and make it permanent, and Kinney knew nothing about the sale to Russo's company, 148 Civitas, until he was informed by Thomas Graham on August 11, 2009, that the sale had taken place on August 5, 2009.

Walbeck filed suit in December of 2010, and Adkins subsequently joined. With the parties unable to resolve their disputes, the case proceeded to trial. Following a mistrial, which was granted in order to realign the HOA as a plaintiff, a second trial ensued, and the jury awarded the following damages: breach of contract (\$1,000,000 for the HOA and \$10,000 for Walbeck), negligent misrepresentation (\$1,000,000 for the HOA and \$20,000 for Walbeck), breach of fiduciary duty (\$1,750,000 for the HOA), and ILSA (\$1 for Walbeck).^{5, 6} Having to elect their remedies, Walbeck chose his negligent misrepresentation verdict, and the HOA elected its breach of fiduciary duty claim.

The parties appealed to the court of appeals, which initially unanimously upheld the jury's breach of fiduciary duty verdict, concluded Homeowners' derivative action on behalf of the HOA could proceed because a formal demand would have been futile, and affirmed the trial court's decision to amalgamate Developers. Thus, under the first opinion, the HOA's \$1,750,000 verdict and Walbeck's \$10,000 breach of contract verdict were upheld. Following both parties' petitions for rehearing, the court of appeals reversed course and unanimously substituted its opinion, this time practically nullifying the jury's verdicts. *See Walbeck v. I'On Co., LLC*, 426 S.C. 494, 827 S.E.2d 348 (Ct. App. 2019). The court reversed the trial court's denial of Developers' JNOV motions on derivative claims and breach of fiduciary duty—meaning that the HOA could not collect on any of the verdicts—and reversed the trial court's finding that Developers were amalgamated. As to the only remaining claim—Walbeck's individual breach of contract cause of action—the court of appeals remanded that \$10,000 verdict for a new trial because it was tainted by an erroneous amalgamation ruling. The court then affirmed the trial court's rulings that the recreational easement was invalid and that Developers were

⁵ Walbeck and Adkins entered a settlement agreement with Russo prior to trial.

⁶ The jury found for Developers on all of Adkins's claims, on the HOA's and Walbeck's fraud claims, and on Walbeck's claim for a violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. Although the jury determined Developers' conduct was reckless, willful, and/or wanton, it declined to award punitive damages.

not entitled to attorney's fees. This Court granted the parties' cross-petitions for certiorari.

ISSUES

- I. Were Homeowners' claims barred by the statute of limitations?
- II. Did the court of appeals err in its ruling regarding Homeowners' claims for breach of fiduciary duty?
- III. Did the court of appeals err in finding the homeowners failed to meet the requirements for filing a derivative suit?
- IV. Did the court of appeals err in reversing the circuit court's amalgamation finding?

DISCUSSION

Because the myriad of evidence adduced during this lengthy trial presented quintessential jury issues, we disagree with the court of appeals' reversal of the jury verdicts. We find the trial court properly submitted Homeowners' claims and the issue of the statute of limitations to the jury, and we find its verdict was supported by the evidence. *See Burns v. Universal Health Serv., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 221, 232, 603 S.E.2d 605, 611 (Ct. App. 2004) ("The verdict will be upheld if there is any evidence to sustain the factual findings implicit in the jury's verdict.") (citation omitted).

I. Timeliness

Both the individual Homeowners and the HOA filed four claims and each is subject to an applicable statute of limitations. Based on the conflicting evidence presented as to when Homeowners should have discovered that the property was not going to be conveyed to them as promised, together with the repeated assurances that it would be conveyed, the trial court submitted the issue of the statute of limitations to the jury. Developers have consistently argued this was error, and, in its second, substituted opinion, the court of appeals agreed, holding that a budgetary provision in a 2005 usage agreement triggered *as a matter of law* the running of the

limitations period for all the claims except Walbeck's individual breach of contract claim. This was error.⁷

Ordinarily, the question of when a statute of limitations began to run is one left to the jury. *Dunbar v. Carlson*, 341 S.C. 261, 269, 533 S.E.2d 913, 917 (Ct. App. 2000) ("[G]enerally, statute of limitations issues are for the jury, rather than the court, to resolve."). Specifically, the question of when a plaintiff discovered, or should have discovered the alleged harm is for the jury to decide because it is an objective question. *Arant v. Kressler*, 327 S.C. 225, 229, 489 S.E.2d 206, 208 (1997) (stating in a medical malpractice action that when there is conflicting testimony regarding time of discovery of facts giving notice, the date on which discovery should have been made becomes an issue for the jury to decide). The presence of conflicting testimony regarding the time discovery should have occurred necessarily requires the jury's resolution. *Brown v. Finger*, 240 S.C. 102, 113, 124 S.E.2d 781, 786 (1962) ("The burden of establishing the bar of the statute of limitations rests upon the one interposing it...and where the testimony is conflicting upon the question, it becomes an issue for the jury to decide.") (internal citations omitted). In the case at bar, the jury was presented with a host of conflicting evidence as to when Homeowners should have, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, discovered the facts giving rise to their claims.

The jury found the operative notice date for each claim was August 5, 2009—the date Developers conveyed the properties at issue to Russo.⁸ While the jury certainly could have accepted the 2005 date argued by Developers and ultimately embraced by the court of appeals, we believe the jury's contrary finding is supported by the evidence.

⁷ We do not address the timeliness of Walbeck's breach of contract claim because Developers now concede that Walbeck's contract to purchase his lot was a sealed instrument and thus has a twenty-year statute of limitations. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-520 (2005).

⁸ Interestingly, the trial judge specifically mentioned during an *in camera* colloquy with the attorneys that the date of the transfer to Russo was what triggered the statute of limitations. As she stated: "Because that's when it became very clear to the landowners in I'On that that parcel, CV-6, couldn't be given to them, regardless of any representations that the jury may find have been made, because it was gone then, and gone to a third-party."

Beginning in 1998, Developers produced a property report that promised to convey the Creek Club and the Community Dock to the HOA, upon their completion. Subsequently, Developers amended that report at least twice, changing the operative language to more vague terminology, specifically changing "Community Dock" to community docks. In February of 2000, ostensibly to pacify the Homeowners, the I'On Club entered into a recreational easement with the HOA, whereby the HOA was permitted use of the amenities and agreed to share costs of their upkeep.⁹

Substantial evidence was presented that although the initial plan—and promise—by Developers was to convey the disputed property to the HOA, Developers jettisoned that plan. In a March 2009 email, Thomas Graham's attorney, Jo Ann Stubblefield, explained that the 2000 recreational easement was granted because "in early 2000 the decision was made" to change course from the 1998 Property Report.¹⁰ Rather than convey the properties at issue to the HOA, Developers decided they wanted the I'On Club to retain title, subject to an easement that provided for neighborhood use. Stubblefield then detailed the changes between the 1998 Property Report and subsequent iterations, including excepting the sidewalks and community dock from the properties to be conveyed to the HOA. However, rather than the I'On Club retaining title, in 2002 Lot CV-5 was conveyed to the Grahams for a nominal fee and that deed was recorded. At trial, Thomas Graham described the situation as "evolving." Another interpretation would be that Developers continued to change their position with regard to the disputed property in an apparent effort to pacify the HOA, thereby lulling the homeowners into believing that the property would eventually be theirs as promised.

Following the 2005 Handover Agreement, wherein Developers promised to inform the HOA when common areas were ready to turn over to HOA control, Besenfelder instead discussed other options with the Grahams. In April of 2007, Besenfelder sent the Grahams proposals for what to do with the Creek Club and

⁹ However, as previously noted, the I'On Club did not have title to the properties when it executed the easement, instead receiving them from the I'On Company for the nominal fee of \$5.00 in August of 2000. Additionally, while the easement was denominated "permanent[,]" subsequent language indicated that it would expire after thirty years.

¹⁰ Thomas Graham forwarded this email to Bruce Kinney (then-president of the HOA), Russo, and Besenfelder with the message, "I think this explains why the community dock was not deeded to the [HOA.]"

docks, including "selling the Creek Club to the HOA[.]" Besenfelder listed the pros and cons of doing so, one pro being "[t]he HOA gets the infamous boat ramp and docks" and one con being the loss of a potentially valuable financial asset. He closed the email by suggesting the group "keep [these options] quiet for now[.]" In July, Besenfelder emailed the Grahams asking what the value of the Creek Club would be if it was repurposed and sold as a residential property, to which Thomas Graham replied, "[o]ur Creek Club is a potentially valuable asset... How can we capitalize this potential value?" Besenfelder then proposed limiting access, and Thomas Graham expressed concern that the homeowners had existing rights in the property.

Further evidence of this ever-shifting plan for the disputed properties surfaced in September of 2008 when Developers surreptitiously began the process of selling to a third party, Russo. Besenfelder, in an email titled "Creek Club, Please keep confidential[.]" informed Russo that the I'On Club had hired an accountant to perform the due diligence in advance of a sale. In this email to Russo, Besenfelder mentioned that I'On Club members get discounted use rates due to a preexisting agreement, but that he would "work with [other parties to] revise that agreement" and further informed Russo that, "the docks were promised to the homeowners and Vince [Graham] would like to honor that someday." In March of 2009 when Besenfelder seemed to express an intention not to turn over the docks, Russo inquired, "[d]oes this mean you're not going to turn over the docks???? Let me know ASAP[.]"

After the first deal with Russo fell through, an email from Besenfelder to the property manager, copying all Board members, again promised that the property would be conveyed, even mentioning that the property would be subdivided to accomplish this transfer. Nevertheless, as already noted, within hours of this email, secret negotiations began again with Russo, and the sale ultimately took place on August 5, 2009, the date on which the jury later found the statute of limitations was triggered.

As is clear from the recitation of the communications and events which transpired between the parties since the 1998 Property Report, when the HOA knew or should have known the Developers' promises were not going to be fulfilled was a question of fact for the jury, not one capable of being decided as a matter of law. We believe this case is similar in some respects to *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. IMK Development Co., LLC*, 435 S.C. 176, 177, 866 S.E.2d 577, 578 (2021), where the Court implicitly acknowledged that although defendants in that case may have had a colorable argument as to the running of the statute of limitations, this Court nonetheless affirmed the jury's verdict. *See id.* ("Application

of both the basic three-year limitations period and the discovery rule in any given case can present factual issues for a jury to resolve. . . . [W]e are constrained by our standard of review and conclude that under the facts of this case, there was a jury issue as to whether the statute of limitations had expired by the time the action was commenced against [the defendant]"). In *Stoneledge*, the jury found in favor of the homeowners after the trial court denied defendants' motion for directed verdict based on the statute of limitations. As is the case here, there was a question of fact as to when Homeowners were put on notice.

Because ample evidence was presented supporting the jury's determination of when Homeowners were on notice, the jury's verdicts are reinstated. While there is an argument that the budgetary provision relied on by the court of appeals could have led to notice, the jury was cognizant of that argument but was convinced by the ample contrary evidence. That finding, because it was supported by sufficient evidence, should not have been overturned on appeal. Accordingly, we find that these claims are timely.

II. Merits of the HOA's Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claim

Homeowners argue Developers owed fiduciary duties to the HOA and that they breached these duties by not conveying the property, as well as by granting various easements over the property to third parties and in self-dealing by surreptitiously selling the property to Russo in 2009. Developers counter that their fiduciary duties to the HOA did not include a responsibility to convey the disputed property and therefore their sale to Russo did not constitute a breach. We agree with Homeowners that the court of appeals focused too narrowly on the Developers' failure to convey the disputed properties, ignoring the plethora of other evidence presented of the Developers' bad faith, broken promises, and self-dealing, all of which support the jury's verdict on Homeowners' breach of fiduciary duty cause of action.

Establishing a breach of fiduciary duty has three elements: (1) existence of the relationship, (2) breach of the duty owed to the Plaintiff, (3) damages proximately resulting from that breach. *See Turpin v. Lowther*, 404 S.C. 581, 589, 745 S.E.2d 397, 401 (Ct. App. 2013). Developers owe fiduciary duties to homeowners and homeowners' associations regarding common areas.¹¹ *Goddard v.*

¹¹ Generally, when a Developer turns over control of the HOA to its members by relinquishing its superior voting power, the fiduciary relationship is extinguished; the developer no longer has control over that which an HOA has an interest. *See*

Fairways Dev. Gen. Partn., 310 S.C. 408, 415, 426 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct. App. 1993). Specifically, common areas must be conveyed in good repair and if they are not, sufficient maintenance funds must be provided in tandem with the property conveyance. *Id.* In *Concerned Dunes West Residents, Inc. v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, this Court likened this duty to those present in a business relationship, holding developers owe homeowners a duty, "much like that owed by promoters of a corporation to investors." 349 S.C. 251, 256, 562 S.E.2d 633, 636 (2002). Importantly, in subdivisions with common areas that are subject to covenants, the responsibilities outlined in the covenants control. *Cedar Cove Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. DiPietro*, 368 S.C. 254, 259, 628 S.E.2d 284, 286 (Ct. App. 2006).

More broadly, "it is [] well settled" that those in a fiduciary relationship with another party must not act to "make use of that relationship to benefit his own personal interests." *Lesesne v. Lesesne*, 307 S.C. 67, 69, 413 S.E.2d 847, 848 (Ct. App. 1991). Conduct that violates this mandate includes self-dealing, fraud, unconscionable conduct, misrepresentations, etc. *See Bennett v. Estate of King*, 436 S.C. 614, 633, 875 S.E.2d 46, 55 (2022) (Kittredge, J. dissenting). This makes sense because the fiduciary relationship imposes a "special confidence in another so that the latter, in equity and good conscience, is bound to act in good faith and with due regard to the interests of the one reposing confidence." *Id.* at 633, 875 S.E.2d at 56.

The trial judge consistently questioned whether Developers' argument—that nonconveyance is only a contractual issue rather than a potential breach of fiduciary duty—was too narrow. This occurred at the directed verdict stage, as well as in the

Goddard v. Fairways Dev. Gen. Partn., 310 S.C. 408, 414, 426 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct. App. 1993) (finding that superior voting power by developers created a fiduciary relationship with condo-owners). However, those duties stem from developer control of the entity, the ongoing nature of construction, and the transfer of common areas. *See Concerned Dunes West Residents, Inc. v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, 349 S.C. 251, 260, 562 S.E.2d 633, 638 (2002) ("[T]he developer has a fiduciary duty to the POA to transfer common areas that are in good repair; if the developer transfers substandard common areas, the developer must, *at the time of transfer*, provide the POA with the funds necessary to bring the common areas up to a standard of reasonably good repair.") (emphasis added). Here, Developers maintained consistent veto authority over the board, continued construction in I'On until past the 2009 conveyance, and delayed the transfer of the disputed property, thereby continuing their fiduciary relationship with the HOA. These facts counteract any concerns that the fiduciary relationship was extinguished at the time of Developers' transfer to Russo.

court's order denying JNOV, where she stated, "a developer's failure to convey community properties in their entirety is at least the equivalent of conveying them in 'substandard condition' (if not worse), and thus, any distinction between properties which *should have been conveyed* and *properties which were actually conveyed in a substandard condition* is a distinction without a difference." However, the court decided to send this cause of action to the jury based not only on the nonconveyance but also on the evidence of bad faith and self-dealing that was presented, and the court denied Developers' motion for JNOV on that additional ground as well. In its second opinion, which reversed the jury's verdict on breach of fiduciary duty, the court of appeals pivoted and embraced the Developers' narrow approach, focusing only on the Developers' act of nonconveyance. *See Walbeck v. I'On Co., LLC*, 426 S.C. 494, 517, 827 S.E.2d 348, 360 (Ct. App. 2019) ("[T]he circuit court's denial of Appellants' JNOV motion was based on its extrapolation of a specific fiduciary duty to *convey title* to common areas from the duty pronounced in *Goddard* and *Dunes West*, i.e., the fiduciary duty to ensure common areas are in good repair before turning them over to a homeowners association.") (emphasis in original).

Homeowners argue this holding was unnecessarily and erroneously constricted, as the two relationships between Developers and the HOA—contractual and fiduciary—are inextricably intertwined. Under this analysis, the contractual duty to convey was overlaid by a fiduciary relationship, which means that while the nonconveyance was certainly a breach of contract, the subsequent self-dealing by Developers through the secret sale of the property to a third party constituted a breach of the Developers' fiduciary duties to the HOA. Stated differently, if the only evidence in the record of a breach of fiduciary duty was that Developers did not convey the property, that claim might well be limited to a breach of contract. While Developers urge this Court to focus only on the nonconveyance, Homeowners have never taken such a limited approach, nor did the trial court. Instead, there was sufficient evidence of bad faith, promises made and broken, and self-dealing presented *in addition to* the breach of contract, to warrant submission of the fiduciary claim to the jury. This nefarious conduct includes, but is not limited to, the secretive sale to Russo, the false representation regarding the property's rightful ownership, and the easement granted to third parties when the property had been promised to the HOA. This kind of conduct, by those in a fiduciary relationship, has clearly led to breaches in other cases and, though springing from contract in this case, constitutes breaches of fiduciary duty. *See, e.g., Moore v. Moore*, 360 S.C. 241, 251, 599 S.E.2d 467, 472 (Ct. App. 2004) ("Parties in a fiduciary relationship must fully disclose to each other all known information that is significant and material, and when this duty to disclose is triggered, silence may constitute fraud.") (citation

omitted). Accordingly, we reverse the court of appeals and reinstate the jury verdict as to this cause of action.

III. Derivative claims

The court of appeals dismissed Homeowners' derivative claims, finding the claims failed the requirements of Rule 23, SCRCP. There is a strong argument that the HOA's realignment as a plaintiff renders this issue moot. Nevertheless, because it seems the parties tried this case as derivative claims—as evidenced by Homeowners' opening and closing, arguments at the directed verdict stage, and the jury charge—we address the merits.

Shareholders of an organization may bring a derivative suit pursuant to Rule 23, SCRCP, in order to compel an organization to represent its interest through litigation. *Patterson v. Witter*, 425 S.C. 213, 231, 821 S.E.2d 677, 687 (2018). Generally, this occurs when the organization's leaders and directors have chosen, for whatever reason, to not act on their own to protect the organization's legal rights. Rule 23(b)(1), SCRCP, mandates:

In a derivative action brought by one or more shareholders or members to enforce a right of a corporation or of an unincorporated association, the corporation or association having failed to enforce a right which may properly be asserted by it, the complaint shall be verified and shall allege that the plaintiff was a shareholder or member at the time of the transaction of which he complains or that his share or membership thereafter devolved on him by operation of law. The complaint shall also allege with particularity the efforts, if any, made by the plaintiff to obtain the action he desires from the directors or comparable authority and, if necessary, from the shareholders or members, and the reasons for his failure to obtain the action or for not making the effort.

Id. Accordingly, Rule 23, SCRCP, requires a plaintiff to set forth particularized allegations—a departure from the more liberal pleading requirements of Rule 8, SCRCP. *Carolina First Corp. v. Whittle*, 343 S.C. 176, 188, 539 S.E.2d 402, 409 (Ct. App. 2000). Pursuant to Rule 23, a shareholder plaintiff must either make a demand on the entity that it pursue a claim or plead with particularity the exceptional circumstances that demonstrate why making a demand would be futile. *Id.* A demand made on a corporation must (1) identify the alleged wrongdoers, (2) describe the factual basis of the wrongful acts and the harm caused to the corporation, and (3) request remedial relief. *Patterson*, 425 S.C. at 233-34, 821 S.E.2d at 688. In

reviewing these requirements, the trial court is neither limited to considering only the allegations put forth in the complaint nor precluded from considering a pre-suit demand letter that was not expressly incorporated by reference into the complaint. *Patterson*, 425 S.C. at 234-35, 821 S.E.2d at 688-89.

Here, in denying Developers' JNOV motion, the trial court stated, "by virtue of the verdict and monetary awards rendered in favor of the [HOA], it is clear that the representative [Homeowners] prosecuted this action in an effort to preserve *all* [On lot purchasers' common interest in the amenity property." Further, the trial court specifically found that the homeowners made repeated demands, and even if they had not, a demand would have been futile since Developers had veto power on the HOA board. *Grant v. Gosnell*, 266 S.C. 372, 376, 223 S.E.2d 413, 415 (1976) ("In evaluating the 'excuse' allegations in a derivative suit, 'Courts have generally been lenient in excusing demand.'") (quoting *DeHaas v. Empire Petroleum Co.*, 435 F.2d 1223 (10th Cir. 1970)). We find the trial court properly denied JNOV because even if no formal demand was made, any attempt to do so would have been futile in light of the Developers' remaining control of the HOA through its veto power. Indeed, Thomas Graham conceded he had previously stated in his deposition that this veto power was like being on the "Supreme Court."

Moreover, after the HOA was realigned as a plaintiff, utilizing a derivative action makes little sense. The HOA is a party to this litigation and acting on the same side as the purported interested members, regardless of their success or failure to compel suit through a derivative action. Thus, the only purpose of the derivative suit—compelling the HOA to join as a plaintiff—has been accomplished. See *Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 330 S.C. 414, 415, 498 S.E.2d 906, 906 (Ct. App. 1998) ("A threshold inquiry for any court is a determination of justiciability, *i.e.* whether the litigation presents an active case or controversy."); see generally *Smith v. Sperling* 354 U.S. 91, 95 (1957) (finding that realignment of a corporate plaintiff in a derivative action defeated subject matter jurisdiction). Accordingly, the court of appeals' dismissal of the HOA's claims is reversed.

IV. Amalgamation/Single-Business Enterprise Theory

Homeowners contend the court of appeals erred in reversing its original opinion that the trial court did not err in amalgamating the interests of the various entities. Homeowners assert the court of appeals should not have applied the single-business entity test set forth by this Court in *Pertuis*, but even if *Pertuis* applies, amalgamation is appropriate because there is ample evidence of exploitative and evasive conduct resulting in unfairness. Additionally, Homeowners argue

Developers waived the question of amalgamation by asking the trial court to decide the issue before sending the case to the jury. Homeowners also contend that even if the parties should not have been amalgamated, Developers cannot establish material prejudice, and therefore it was error for the court of appeals to remand for a new trial.

Conversely, Developers argue they did not waive any challenge to the amalgamation ruling since that is an issue for the trial court to answer in the first instance and may be appealed. As to the merits, Developers contend the court of appeals correctly recognized that amalgamation is the exception, not the rule. Accordingly, Developers argue Homeowners' failure to show a causal connection between any bad faith or improper conduct and the mixing of several different corporate entities precludes treating the various Developers as one. Developers assert the court of appeals properly concluded the trial court's erroneous amalgamation ruling prejudiced them, and therefore, the new trial remedy was correct.

In *Pertuis*, the Court formally adopted the single business enterprise theory as one method of piercing the corporate veil. *Pertuis v. Front Roe Rests., Inc.*, 423 S.C. 640, 655, 817 S.E.2d 273, 280 (2018). There, a restaurant manager who was a minority shareholder filed suit against the majority shareholders for being "squeezed out" of the business, which actually consisted of three S-corporations. The trial court determined the three entities constituted a "de facto partnership" and amalgamated the interests. In formally adopting the single business enterprise theory, the Court acknowledged the practical reality that businesses often form different corporate structures as a means of shielding shareholders from liability—"there is nothing remotely nefarious in doing that." *Id.* at 655, 817 S.E.2d at 280-81. Accordingly, the Court required two elements before amalgamating different interests into one under the single business enterprise theory: 1) "the various entities' operations are intertwined" and 2) "further evidence of bad faith, abuse, fraud, wrongdoing, or injustice resulting from the blurring of the entities' legal distinctions." *Id.* The Court placed the burden on the party seeking to pierce the corporate veil and also cautioned that deciding whether to amalgamate various entities should only be done upon "substantial reflection." *Id.* ("As with other methods of piercing the corporate form that have previously been recognized in South Carolina, equitable principles govern the application of the single business enterprise remedy, and this doctrine 'is not to be applied without substantial reflection.'" (citation omitted)). After formally adopting this test, the Court concluded the trial court erred in amalgamating the three entities because there was no evidence of bad faith by the majority shareholders.

While *Pertuis* involved a claim of minority shareholder oppression, this Court applied *Pertuis* in a construction defect case where a homeowner's association sought to amalgamate various entities structured as limited liability companies. *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. IMK Dev. Co., LLC*, 435 S.C. 109, 866 S.E.2d 542 (2021). The Court reversed the trial court's "decision" to amalgamate the various LLCs that employed the investors, construction contractors, and sales team for a residential property development.¹² A principal of the construction contractor had knowledge of construction defects plaguing the project while working with another intertwined sales entity. The various LLCs shared members, and homeowners testified they were confused as to the different roles that each LLC and individual played. In declining to amalgamate the LLCs, the Court noted that it viewed the facts "with the requisite hesitancy to invade the LLC form" *Id.* at 126, 866 S.E.2d at 551. The Court reviewed the record de novo and concluded that the only evidence of "bad faith, abuse fraud, wrongdoing, or injustice" was the fact that the profits of the developer, who had constructive notice of construction defects, were "entirely dependent" on the sales entity's ability to sell units. *Id.* at 119, 126, 866 S.E.2d at 548, 551 (2021). Accordingly, amalgamation was not appropriate.

In denying Developers' JNOV motion, the trial court concluded that any distinctions between the various entities were blurred, as all were "controlled, managed, and owned by the same individuals, and all collectively functioned as one in the day-to-day operations" of the I'On development, "including promulgating deceptive and misleading representations." Additionally, although the trial court did not have the benefit of the *Pertuis* decision at the time it denied Developers' JNOV motion, some of the court's findings still demonstrate more than that the various entities were simply intertwined. For example, the trial court noted that the recreational easement, which was entered into between the I'On Company, the I'On Club, and the HOA in 2000 was executed on behalf of all three entities by the general manager of the I'On Company. Nevertheless, a subsequent general manager of the I'On company informed the HOA in 2009 that the I'On Company was preparing to deed the property containing the community dock to the HOA despite the fact that the I'On Club, not the I'On Company, owned the property. The trial court also recounted how lots CV-5 and CV-6 were transferred between the I'On Company to

¹² As the Court noted, the trial court never reached the merits of the claim, instead simply denying a directed verdict motion on the issue but not revisiting it. Nevertheless, because the question of amalgamation lies in equity and the parties, as well as the court of appeals, all treated the issue as being decided on the merits, the Court reached the matter. *Stoneledge*, 435 S.C. at 120, 866 S.E.2d at 548.

the I'On Club in 2000 for \$5, CV-5 was transferred two years later to the owners of the I'On Company for \$5, although there was no evidence that consideration was actually paid to the I'On Club. In its initial opinion, the court of appeals agreed with the trial court's amalgamation ruling but reversed in its substituted opinion, concluding there was no evidence of "bad faith, abuse, fraud, wrongdoing, or injustice *resulting from* the blurring of the entities' legal distinctions."

We find the court of appeals correctly analyzed this issue initially, and erred in its second opinion by adopting Developers' limited view of the test set forth in *Pertuis*. While it is true that courts should be hesitant to invade the corporate form, here there is more than enough evidence that the creation of various entities furthered Developers' abilities to refrain from doing that which they repeatedly told the HOA and the residents they would do—turn over the disputed amenities to the HOA. As this Court stated in *Pertuis*, "the corporate structure should not shield—fraud, *evasion of existing obligations*, circumvention of statutes, monopolization, criminal conduct, and the like." 423 S.C. 640, 654-55, 817 S.E.2d 273, 280 (quoting *SSP Partners v. Gladstrong Invs. (USA) Corp.*, 275 S.W.3d 444, 455 (Tex. 2008)) (emphasis added).

The 1998 Property Report specifically provided that the HOA would own the dock and park once the development was completed. Then, within a year, the plan changed, as Developers decided not to convey the amenities, including the community dock, completely disregarding the 1998 Property Report. Next, Developers attempted to change from outright HOA ownership to mere HOA access by granting the HOA a recreational easement, despite not actually owning the property at the time. In an amended property report in 2000, the community dock was removed from the list of amenities owned by the HOA, thus purporting to accomplish the change from ownership to access without any input or consideration of the interests of the residents and the HOA. Between 2006 and 2007, Developers had yet to turn over the community dock or boat ramp, and openly acknowledged that "[t]he docks are too controversial and taking away even part of this community amenity would cause trouble." Shifting course again, in 2008, Besenfelder wrote, "We are ready to deed this community dock and ramp to the homeowners and wish to comply with regulations."

Ultimately, Developers reversed themselves yet again, and decided to sell the docks to Russo without informing the HOA because they wanted to "keep the transaction quiet because of all the brew ha hah (sic) and filings." Developers even went a step further when, instead of disclosing the outright sale of the properties to Russo, they told Kinney that Russo was simply taking over management of the lots

and amenities. Thus, under our de novo review of this issue, the evidence shows that not only were the various entities intertwined and acting in concert with each other, their conduct demonstrates "bad faith, abuse, fraud, wrongdoing, or injustice resulting from the blurring of the entities' legal distinctions." *Pertuis*, 423 S.C. at 655, 817 S.E.2d at 280-81. Although the jury elected not to award punitive damages in this case, its verdict did include a finding that the Developers' conduct was "willful and wanton."¹³ Accordingly, we find the court of appeals erred in declining to apply the single-business enterprise theory. Because the trial court did not err in amalgamating the different entities, there is no need for a remand.¹⁴

CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing, we: (1) reverse the court of appeals' ruling on the statute of limitations because the issue as to when Homeowners had adequate notice

¹³ Moreover, we note that following the verdict, the trial court issued an order—from which the Developers did not appeal—holding them in contempt for their destruction of evidence. The trial court pointed out specific examples of documents that were deleted, and noted that the forensic report revealed that "Besenfelder deleted approximately 51,527 files and folders["] The trial court ultimately awarded over \$23,000 in sanctions.

¹⁴ In Developers' cross-petition for certiorari, they assert the court of appeals erred in relying on the two-issue rule in upholding the trial court's finding that the 2000 recreational easement was invalid. As to the merits, Developers contend the after-acquired title doctrine applies and that the easement was perpetual rather than limited to 30 years. While we agree the two-issue rule applies and affirm the court of appeals on this issue, we do so for a different reason. Regardless of whether the lack of an arms-length transaction constituted a separate ground in the trial court's order, the court specifically noted, "Additionally, the Doctrine of Unclean Hands precludes Developers from relying upon equitable principles such as the After-Acquired Title Doctrine because, in order to recover in equity, one must act equitably." Developers have not addressed this equitable basis supporting the trial court's decision, so it is the law of the case. *See Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) ("Under the [two-issue] rule, [when] a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case."). In any event, we agree with the trial court that because Developers acted inequitably, we do not need to reach whether the after-acquired title doctrine could apply in this case.

to begin the limitations clock was properly presented to the jury and resolved by it; (2) find any procedural issues related to the derivative claims either (a) moot as the HOA was realigned as a plaintiff and the trial court explicitly found it adopted its own claims against the Developers, or (b) demand was saved by futility due to the Developer's continuing veto power; (3) hold that Developers breached the fiduciary duties owed to Homeowners; (4) reverse the court of appeals' decision that Developers could not be amalgamated, as there is more than enough evidence of bad faith, abuse, fraud, wrongdoing, or injustice resulting from the blurring of the entities' legal distinctions; and (5) affirm the court of appeals that the recreational easement was invalid.¹⁵

AFFIRMED IN PART; REVERSED IN PART.

KITTREDGE, Acting Chief Justice, FEW, JAMES, JJ., and Acting Justice Jan B. Bromell Holmes, concur.

¹⁵ Before the circuit court, Walbeck claimed attorney's fees under his statutory ILSA claim. *See* 15 U.S.C.A. § 1709(a)-(c) (2012) ("The amount recoverable . . . may include, in addition to matters specified [in this section] interest, court costs, and reasonable amounts for attorneys' fees . . ."). The trial court found both that Walbeck could recover attorney's fees under ILSA and that his claim for more than \$1 million was unreasonable, reducing the fee by over 75%. *See Farmers & Merchants Bank v. Fagnoli*, 274 S.C. 23, 26, 260 S.E.2d 185, 187 (1979) ("The law requires, however, that the award must be reasonable."). Though Developers challenged this claim before the court of appeals, its ultimate finding that the ILSA claim was barred was dispositive. Rather than remanding to the court of appeals, because we agree with the trial court's analysis on this issue and we reinstate the jury's verdict as to the timeliness of Walbeck's claims, the attorney's fees award of \$225,500 to Walbeck is likewise reinstated.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina

In the Matter of Harry B. Gregory, Jr., Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000288

ORDER

On March 25, 2021, Respondent was placed on interim suspension. *In re Gregory*, 433 S.C. 231, 857 S.E.2d 552 (2021). Respondent now petitions this Court to lift his interim suspension. The Office of Disciplinary Counsel does not oppose that request.

The petition is granted, and Respondent's interim suspension is hereby lifted.

s\ Donald W. Beatty _____ C.J.
FOR THE COURT

Columbia, South Carolina
February 7, 2023

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

The State, Respondent,

v.

Brandon Jerome Clark, Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001477

Appeal From Pickens County
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5968
Heard October 5, 2022 – Filed February 8, 2023

AFFIRMED

Cameron Jane Blazer, of Blazer Law Firm, of Mount Pleasant, for Appellant.

Attorney General Alan McCrory Wilson and Assistant Attorney General Ambree Michele Muller, both of Columbia; and Solicitor William Walter Wilkins, III, of Greenville, all for Respondent.

HEWITT, J.: Brandon Jerome Clark appeals his conviction and sentence for first-degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor. He makes five arguments: the circuit court erred in (1) limiting his cross-examination of the person who conducted a recorded interview with the alleged victim, (2) admitting the recording of that interview into evidence, (3) excluding his expert on these sorts of recorded

interviews, (4) denying a directed verdict, and (5) not finding a violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

Much of this opinion concerns the arguments about the recorded interview with Clark's alleged victim (Child). These interviews—sometimes called "forensic interviews"—have been the subject of many opinions over the last several years. A recurring principle in these precedents is preventing improper bolstering of the alleged victim's testimony. To that end, the cases describe various and limited testimony that certain witnesses may present to the jury.

The issues about the interview in this case touch on the same principle but were presented differently here than they have been presented before. During the hearing that is necessary before this sort of interview can be admitted, Clark made clear that he did not object to the interview being admitted into evidence. But later, after the circuit court made the required finding that the interview was reliable and after the interview was played for the jury, Clark argued the interview did not satisfy the standard for admission and sought to attack the interviewer's method and neutrality. The circuit court excluded testimony about the interviewer's method and technique. The circuit court also prohibited Clark from offering an expert witness's opinion on whether the interview was conducted appropriately.

For reasons we will explain, we find the circuit court did not abuse its discretion. We respectfully disagree with the rest of Clark's arguments and affirm the judgment.

FACTS

Child is a daughter of Clark's former girlfriend (we assume the relationship has ended). Child said Clark picked her up out of bed one night, carried her downstairs in her mother's house, pulled down her pants, and "peed in [her] private[s]." She disclosed this to her father, who took her to the hospital. Law enforcement became involved as well.

The recorded interview occurred at the Julie Valentine Center. Child was around five years old. By the time of trial, she was seven.

Pretrial proceedings

As already noted, Clark did not object to the interview coming in as evidence. The interview was discussed at length during pretrial motions. Clark said he consented to the interview being played for the jury as long as both his accuser testified and the interviewer testified. He said that while he was not stipulating to the interview's admission, he was not objecting either.

After that, the discussion turned to the various factors listed in section 17-23-175(B) of the South Carolina Code (2014) that the court may consider in determining whether an interview like this has the "guarantees of trustworthiness" required for admission into evidence. Clark said he could not stipulate that the interview satisfied the factors, but he reiterated his earlier statement that he would not object to the interview if the court concluded it satisfied the standard for admission.

A few minutes later, while arguing that the circuit court should allow the jury to have a transcript of the interview, Clark briefly mentioned that he wanted the transcript admitted into evidence so he could argue that the manner in which the interviewer asked questions was unreliable. He did not explain why he believed the questions had been asked improperly. And, as noted, Clark was seeking to admit the transcript, not to exclude the interview. After watching the interview, the circuit court found the interview contained particularized guarantees of trustworthiness as outlined in the statute.

Witness testimony about the interview

Child was the first witness at trial. The interviewer was the second. The circuit court admitted the recorded interview as evidence during the interviewer's direct examination. At Clark's request, the court postponed the interviewer's cross-examination until after the interview had been played for the jury.

Cross-examination quickly revealed that Clark's defense involved arguing the interviewer had used improper questions resulting in a false accusation. An extensive proffer followed after Clark asked the interviewer whether the Julie Valentine Center was a "child advocacy center" and whether a center that advocates for children can perform a neutral and unbiased interview of a child. The State objected and argued that the interviewer was not permitted to testify about the

specifics of the interview or about interviewing techniques because answers to those questions could improperly bolster the accuser's testimony.

Clark argued his purpose was not to bolster but to attack. Outside of the jury's presence, Clark asked the interviewer questions like whether it was best practice to ask non-leading and open-ended questions when interviewing children. Clark and the interviewer also debated whether particular questions were (or were not) leading questions.

The circuit court ruled that it would follow recent precedent explaining that the jury was not to hear testimony about interviewing methods and techniques. *See State v. Anderson*, 413 S.C. 212, 221, 776 S.E.2d 76, 80 (2015). The next day, when Clark argued he would not have consented to the interview's admission if he had known he would not be able to attack the interviewer's methodology, the circuit court noted its pretrial ruling that the interview met the factors for admission and that Clark had not moved to redact any portions of the recording.

The interview was featured in the testimony of two additional witnesses. Shauna Galloway-Williams, the State's expert in child abuse dynamics, testified on cross-examination that interviewers should generally use non-leading and open-ended questions. Dr. Amanda Salas, Clark's proposed expert witness, gave similar testimony, but additionally offered her professional opinion that this interview contained a substantial amount of suggestible techniques that influenced Child's disclosure. The circuit court heard all of Dr. Salas's testimony in camera and excluded her testimony from the jury's consideration. This was based on the finding that method and technique testimony was not to go to the jury.

Other issues

Clark's hearsay/directed verdict issue centers on the testimony of an emergency department nurse. At trial, Child could not give a time period for when the alleged abuse occurred. The nurse's testimony about her conversation with Child at the hospital was the only testimony that the incident occurred within the one-month date range alleged in the indictment. The circuit court admitted this testimony under Rule 803(4), SCRE—the medical diagnosis exception to the rule against hearsay—based on the nurse's explanation that the timing of the sexual abuse would have aided in determining what treatment Child received.

The *Brady* issue involves a police officer's investigation materials from Child's hospital visit. An officer from the Pickens Police Department was dispatched to the hospital. The officer's body camera recorded parts of her conversations with Child and various family members. The body camera footage was not admitted into evidence, but on cross-examination, Clark asked the officer about a reference in the video to someone named "Ashley." No one recognized the name Ashley. The officer did not recall telling anyone she had a reference to Ashley in her handwritten notes. The officer also did not have her handwritten notes or know where they were. The officer testified that she transferred all the information from her notes to her final report but confirmed the report did not mention Ashley.

Clark argued the State committed a *Brady* violation by not sending the officer's investigative notes, which Clark claimed had a strong likelihood of being *Brady* material, because of the officer's reference to Ashley. Clark argued that an inference existed that the notes were favorable to him because they were not provided to the defense. The State argued that it had tried to obtain the notes, but the officer no longer possessed them. The circuit court stated it would consider giving a spoliation charge but could not find a *Brady* violation when there was no evidence the officer's notes were of any exculpatory or impeachment value.

The jury found Clark guilty as indicted. The circuit court sentenced him to twenty-five years' imprisonment.

ISSUES

1. Whether the circuit court erred in preventing Clark from cross-examining the interviewer about interviewing techniques.
2. Whether the circuit court erred in admitting the interview into evidence.
3. Whether the circuit court erred in prohibiting Clark's expert witness from testifying.
4. Whether the circuit court should have excluded the nurse's testimony as inadmissible hearsay and thus granted a directed verdict based on the lack of any evidence the incident occurred within the dates specified in the indictment.

5. Whether the circuit court erred by not finding a *Brady* violation based on the loss of the police officer's interview notes.

THE INTERVIEWER'S CROSS-EXAMINATION

Clark argues the circuit court erred in preventing him from cross-examining the interviewer about her methodology and "suggestive interviewing technique." He asserts recent decisions—particularly *Anderson* and *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013)—do not preclude his cross-examination because he was not seeking the interviewer's opinion on the alleged victim's truthfulness. Instead, he says, he was seeking to highlight the ways the interviewer may have inadvertently affected the nature and scope of the disclosure.

Our disagreement with Clark's argument is driven by the fact that the law contemplates challenges to the interview method being hashed out in front of the judge and away from the jury. The statute states a recorded interview is only admissible if the court finds, after a hearing, "that the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement provides particularized guarantees of trustworthiness." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175(A)(4) (2014). Our supreme court has even specified the procedure. *Anderson* explains the interviewer should be called to testify in camera. 413 S.C. at 220, 776 S.E.2d at 80. There, the interviewer "must" testify to establish his or her training and background, the method or technique employed in the interview, and anything else relevant to the statute's "trustworthiness" factors. *Id.* If the court finds the interview admissible, the interviewer's "sole purpose" in front of the jury is to lay the foundation for the interview. *Id.* at 220-21, 776 S.E.2d at 80. The discussion of techniques, including that the child was instructed about the importance of telling the truth, is not allowed. *Id.* at 221, 776 S.E.2d at 80. Although this testimony helps establish the "guarantees of trustworthiness," it necessarily (albeit implicitly) bolsters the child's credibility. *Id.*

That procedure was not followed here. The interviewer did not testify in camera before the recording was admitted. Clark did not argue against any of the trustworthiness factors. He proposed to attack them not in front of the judge but the jury. Our reading of *Anderson* convinces us that he cannot do so because whether particular questions were leading questions and whether the interviewer's method was appropriate are part of the determination of whether the interview satisfies the statute's criteria for admission. That is a question for the judge, not the jury.

The reason why is driven by concerns we have mentioned a few times already. Clark is of course right that he is not trying to bolster, but if he can attack method and training, the State must necessarily dispute Clark's viewpoint, and it is difficult to envision how the State could dispute the attack *without* bolstering. A cross-examination focused on whether the interview used suggestive interviewing techniques is nothing if not an invitation for the State to give counter testimony on redirect. We do not quarrel with the idea that a bad technique might produce a flawed disclosure of abuse, but that is not a license to do battle in front of the jury over whether interview technique is good or bad. The obvious suggestion in that battle is that interview technique is a reliable proxy for whether the child is telling the truth.

The circuit court allowed testimony on issues identified as acceptable in *Kromah*. 401 S.C. at 360, 737 S.E.2d at 500-01 (explaining the interviewer could discuss the circumstances of the interview, personal observations of the child, and events within the interviewer's personal knowledge). It declined to allow questioning on topics prohibited by precedent; instructing instead that the interview was "fair game" for closing argument. This approach was sound and therefore not an abuse of discretion.

INTERVIEW'S ADMISSION AS EVIDENCE

Clark argues that the interview did not provide particularized guarantees of trustworthiness, that Child did not demonstrate competency to testify, and that the court therefore erred in admitting the interview as evidence.

These arguments are not preserved for our review. Clark did not raise an issue with the circuit court's "trustworthiness" ruling until the day *after* the recording was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. Also, and as noted at the beginning of this opinion, the only position Clark took before the circuit court ruled on the video's admission was that he would not stipulate to the factors. Many cases, including *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004), specify that preserving issues requires raising issues to the trial court, in a timely manner, and with specificity.

We hasten to add that our ruling would not change even if we reviewed the issue on the merits. Clark is right that Child made some odd statements in the interview. She claimed Clark had cameras in his eyes and that she had previously driven her mother

to the hospital. Both statements were obviously not correct. Even so, we do not see a basis for finding the circuit court abused its discretion in concluding that Child's allegation of abuse in the interview satisfied the standard for admission. The disclosure was detailed, and there does not appear to be any dispute that Child described things that would be beyond the understanding and experience of someone her age. Like the circuit court, we respectfully disagree with Clark's argument that the interview employed leading or suggestive questioning. Thus, even if we reached the merits, we would still affirm.

CLARK'S EXPERT

We deal with this issue quickly because our discussion of the interviewer's cross-examination controls. Clark argues that Dr. Salas was qualified under Rule 702, SCRE,¹ to be an expert witness and her testimony would have assisted the jury in understanding the evidence. He reads case law as prohibiting experts from opining on a child's veracity and argues that he is seeking merely to challenge Child's credibility, which he sees as different than giving an opinion on whether an allegation is true.

Much of the testimony Clark wished to elicit from Dr. Salas was a direct comment on the credibility of the statements in the interview. She testified that proper interview technique allowed the interviewer to get "the child's information, not something I've implanted in the child." She testified that her work as an expert involved reviewing interviews to form opinions "in terms of the reliability of an interview . . . [and] whether it was following best practices or not." She opined that the interviewer suggested what Child's answers should be, that Child was looking for positive reinforcement, and that Child's statements during the interview "were not her own answers but were those of the interviewer through the use of improper methodology." The precedents in this area cannot be reasonably read to support allowing this sort of testimony. In addition to the cases cited in the previous discussion, we add *State v. Chavis*, which noted that no evidence demonstrated that an expert could draw reliable conclusions from evaluating this sort of recorded interview. 412 S.C. 101, 107-08, 771 S.E.2d 336, 339 (2015).

¹ "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." Rule 702, SCRE.

Clark also argues he was treated differently from the State because the State was allowed to offer an expert and he was not. The disparity is the result of the fact that the State's expert offered proper testimony and Clark's did not. The State offered an expert in "child abuse dynamics" to testify about the peculiar behavior often exhibited by victims of abuse. This sort of testimony has been recognized as appropriate. *Anderson*, 413 S.C. at 218, 776 S.E.2d at 79. The State's expert had not watched the recording, did not give her opinion on the interviewer's methodology, and did not offer any sort of opinion about whether statements made in the interview were truly "the child's statements" as opposed to things that had been "planted." If she had gotten near these areas, we have no doubt the circuit court would have excluded the testimony.

HEARSAY/DIRECTED VERDICT

Clark argues that the nurse's testimony about the time of the alleged abuse was improperly admitted hearsay and that there was no evidence of penetration, which is an element of first-degree CSC.

The transcript—particularly the circuit court's questioning of the nurse—supports the circuit court's decision that the timing of the sexual abuse aided medical staff in determining what treatment Child would receive. *See* Rule 803(4), SCRE (providing "[s]tatements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment" are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness). The evidence of penetration came from the recorded interview. In the light most favorable to the State, evidence was presented on all of the elements necessary to prove Clark's guilt. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(1) (2015) ("A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree if . . . the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is less than eleven years of age . . .").

BRADY VIOLATION

Clark argues the circuit court erred in failing to find a *Brady* violation because some evidence was delayed from production until after the trial began, other evidence (particularly the officer's notes) was allegedly destroyed after it had been requested,

and the circuit court could not determine whether the missing evidence would have been exculpatory.

Among other things, a *Brady* claim requires the withheld information be material to guilt or punishment. *See Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 659, 594 S.E.2d 462, 470 (2004) ("Pursuant to *Brady*, the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution."), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 504 n.3, 832 S.E.2d 575, 583 n.3 (2019). The evidence does not suggest that the officer's lost notes, which were largely transferred to her report except for a passing reference to Ashley, contained information favorable to Clark or were material. None of the witnesses at trial, including Child's parents, knew who Ashley was. Child did not reference Ashley in the recorded interview or in her trial testimony. These two things in conjunction make it unlikely that Ashley had any information about Child's sexual abuse (or that Ashley even existed). Clark cross-examined witnesses about Ashley at trial. Thus, we agree with the circuit court that Clark did not establish a *Brady* violation. *See State v. Gathers*, 295 S.C. 476, 481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) ("In determining the materiality of nondisclosed evidence, [an appellate court] will consider it in the context of the entire record."); *id.* ("The State's failure to disclose information warrants a reversal as a *Brady* violation only if the omission deprived the defendant of a fair trial."). We note the circuit court offered to give a spoliation instruction. We mention this because we believe it demonstrates the circuit court carefully considered the argument and deemed it unlikely that the missing information was material and warranted the heavy remedy of dismissal.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Clark's convictions and sentences are

AFFIRMED.

KONDUROUS and VINSON, JJ., concur.